No. 41557-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

HAL MOORE and MELANIE MOORE; and LESTER KRUEGER and BETTY KRUEGER,

Appellants,

v.

STEVE'S OUTBOARD SERVICE, and STEVEN LOVE and MARY LOU LOVE,

Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Dennis D. Reynolds DENNIS D. REYNOLDS LAW OFFICE 200 Winslow Way West, Suite 380 Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-6777 Phone (206) 780-6865 Fax

Counsel for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal challenges the decision by the Superior Court to ignore an unpermitted and illegal nuisance *per se* and instead find no nuisance existed based upon opinions of a handful of the Respondent's friends and customers. The Superior Court was impermissibly swayed by testimony of Respondents' customers who did not live next to the illegal business, but who claimed that they personally were not bothered by the operations. Visiting a business for a few minutes to deliver or pick up a boat motor is not the same thing as living next door to a business which emanates noise, fumes and disruption throughout the day, each work day.

The Trial Court also erroneously side-stepped questions regarding permitting of the activity in question — a boat motor repair and service located in a high end residential area along Hood Canal - and ruled that because there were sources of noise and fumes associated with residential activities and a State highway in the vicinity of the unpermitted commercial business conducted by Respondents, the operations did not constitute a nuisance. A claim of nuisance is not resolved by considering routine activities which occur in a residential neighborhood but by considering the actual impact of the activity at issue on the complaining parties and whether it complies with the law.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Trial Court erred in entering its final Court's Decision After Trial on November 12, 2010 which dismissed Appellants' request for injunctive relief to redress the nuisance *per se* that exists by virtue of (1) Respondents' illegal business operations in the shoreline environment that has been continuing without required shoreline permits or approvals, (2) violation of a State right-of-way permit, and (3) the local noise ordinance.
- B. The Trial Court erred in apparently concluding in its final Decision After Trial on November 12, 2010 that building permits approved by Mason County for (1) replacement of an existing residential carport and (2) construction of a new "storage shed" now used for commercial operations satisfied Shoreline Management Act and the County's Shoreline Master Program requirements for approval of a commercial business located within shoreline jurisdiction.
- C. The Trial Court erred in concluding in its final Court's Decision After Trial on November 23, 2010 that Appellants failed to show by a preponderance of evidence that the Respondents' business is a nuisance under any legal theory.
- D. The Trial Court erred in entering Judgment dated December 20, 2010 "against Plaintiffs and in favor of the Defendants"
- E. The Trial Court erred by entering Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in its Memorandum Opinion of September 22, 2010, which were incorporated into the Decision After Trial of November 23, 2010, in narrative fashion without the specificity and separate treatment required by Civil Rule 52(a).
- F. If proper findings of fact, Appellants assign error to the following findings set forth in the Memorandum Opinion of September 22, 2010, and incorporated into the Decision After Trial of November 23, 2010, that are unsupported by the record:
 - 1. Regarding the noise level of Mr. Love's outboard motor business, on an average day of operation, boat motors are not normally being run while they are being serviced or repaired. At most, a motor is run for 15 minutes with most of this time

being at idle. Motors are generally run in a tank of water at the rear of Mr. Love's shop. (Memorandum, p.4, CP 111.)

- 2. Another outside noise in the area is Mr. Krueger's leaf blower. The greatest overall volume of noise however is from general traffic on the adjacent state highway including motorcycles which produce far more noise than the outboard motors. On the waterside, the noise of boat motors and jet skis are frequent, especially in the summer. (Memorandum, p.4, **CP 111**.)
- 3. Regarding the odor and smoke allegations, Mr. Love's business is clean, technologically up-to-date and Mr. Love is environmentally conscious. Smoke production is no longer a part of Mr. Love's testing procedures. Previously, Mr. Love would spray a fogging material in an engine creating smoke until the engine stalled and quit. Mr. Love has not done this since the year 2000. Mr. Love's new procedure does not require the same method of fogging to accomplish the same result. Additionally, regarding smoke in the general area, the Kruegers heat two garages with wood stoves and these smoke at times. (Memorandum, pp.4-5, CP 111-12.)
- 4. Running boat motors will create exhaust fumes. However as set forth above as to the noise issue, motors at Mr. Love's business are run for a very limited amount of time. This is not significant especially when the plaintiffs' homes also closely abut a state highway. (Memorandum, p.5, **CP 112**.)
- 5. Regarding the issue of traffic safety, SR 106 along Hood Canal is a busy highway especially in the summer months or when the Hood Canal Bridge is not usable. Parking is limited, and, especially in the summer months, many boats and other vehicles are parked along this highway in the state right-of-way. Vehicles using SR 106 daily include private passenger vehicles some of which are towing boats,

commercial vehicles such as delivery trucks, propane trucks, and log trucks. The portion of SR 106 at issue in this case, is relatively straight. (Memorandum, pp-5-6, CP 112-13.)

- 6. Thom Adams, a Shelton Police Officer and former reserve sheriff's deputy familiar with this area testified regarding the highway condition as did Mr. Gordon, a neighborhood resident and retired law enforcement officer. Neither witness had seen any traffic safety problems. No known accidents have occurred in this area in 20 years. (Memorandum, p.6, CP 113.)
- 7. Mr. Love is acutely aware of the necessity of safety precautions as an auto accident could mean the end of his business. The procedure used by Mr. Love in directing his clientele how to drop off and pick up their boats was characterized by one witness, a former nuclear safety officer, as being similar to the safety briefings he was used to in the Navy. (Memorandum, p.6, CP 113.)
- 8. Mr. Love only takes work by appointment so he knows when to expect a vehicle pulling a boat trailer to arrive. He instructs customers to call when they are in the area to drop off their boat for work. If coming from the Belfair direction the customer normally drives past Mr. Love's location and turns around at the nearby state park. The customer then drives back to Mr. Love's and comes to a stop off the travelled portion of the highway on the right-ofway with Mr. Love present. The boat trailer is unhooked from the vehicle and moved by Mr. Love's tractor onto his property. The tractor is equipped with a light bar and is a safe method of moving the boat trailers. Boats are not stored parked on the shoulder of the highway. Boats are parked on the shoulder of the highway during dropoff and for the shortest time possible, usually 15 to 20 minutes. After the work is completed the boats

- are moved to a fenced-in area to await pick-up by the customer. (Memorandum, pp.6-7, CP 114-15.)
- 9. Also important to the issues of noise, odor and traffic safety are the unusual hours of business operation and the volume of Mr. Love's business. (Memorandum, p.7, CP 115.)
- 10. Plaintiffs have not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendants' business is a nuisance (Memorandum, p.8, **CP 116**.)
- G. If proper Findings of Fact, Appellants generally assign error to any other language in the Trial Court's Memorandum Decision of September 22, 2010 construed as outcome determinative facts that are unsupported by the record.
- H. The Trial Court erred in apparently concluding that noise testing was required to demonstrate a violation of Mason County's noise ordinance.
- I. The Trial Court erred in entering its Memorandum Decision of September 22, 2010 incorporated into its Final Decision After Trial to the extent it ruled that a nuisance was not shown "by the preponderance of the evidence" entitling Appellants to an injunction because (1) someone in Mason County issued building permits for reconstruction of an existing carport serving residential purposes or construction of another new building now used for commercial purposes; (2) that there were other sources of smoke and fumes in the neighborhood other than Respondent's business; (3) that there were other sources of noise in the neighborhood from the existing highway and boat traffic on Hood Canal or yard maintenance activities other than Respondent's business; and/or (4) there is traffic in the vicinity of Respondent's property not associated with operation of Respondents' business.
- J. The Trial Court erred in entering its Memorandum Decision of September 22, 2010 incorporated into its Decision After Trial concluding that Appellants pursued an action for damages or injunctive relief under the Shoreline Management Act.
- K. The Trial Court erred in awarding attorney fees to Respondents in its Order on Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on

November 12, 2010 and its Order on Defendants' Supplemental Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on December 20, 2010 because there was no statutory authority or other legal basis for the award.

- L. The Trial Court erred in setting the amount of attorney fees it did in its Order on Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on November 12, 2010 and its Order on Defendants' Supplemental Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs on December 20, 2010.
- M. The Trial Court erred in entering Judgment in favor of Respondents against Appellants in the amount of \$36,034.69 on December 20, 2010.

III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Is an unpermitted commercial use within the shoreline environment which violates a State highway access permit and local noise ordinance a nuisance *per se*, such that injunctive relief pursuant to RCW Chapter 7.48 should be granted? (Assignments of Error A, C, D and I).
- 2. Are questions concerning the level of noise, odors, fumes and traffic safety issues resulting from an unpermitted commercial use within the shoreline environment relevant to the determination of whether a nuisance *per se* exists? (Assignments of Error A, C, D and I).
- 3. Does Mason County's approval of building permits for (a) converting a residential carport into an enclosed structure proposed to be a "rebuilt carport," and (b) a storage shed designated for residential use both located and constructed within 200 feet of the shoreline and now used for business purposes satisfy Shoreline Management Act and County Shoreline Master Program provisions that require a shoreline substantial

development permit or conditional use permit for commercial development or use within the shoreline environment? (Assignments of Error A, B, C, D and I).

- 4. Does the fact that there are sources of noise and fumes and traffic associated with single-family residential uses and a State highway in the vicinity of Respondent's business justify dismissal of Appellants' claims for nuisance without regard to or consideration of the actual impact of the business on the Appellants? (Assignments of Error A, C, D, H and I).
- 5. Are the Superior Court Findings set out in its Memorandum Decision to support entry of a Judgment or Order of Dismissal supported by substantial evidence? (Assignments of Error D, E, F and G).
- 6. Does the preponderance of the evidence demonstrate that Respondent's business operations unreasonably interfere with Appellants' quiet use and enjoyment of their property such to constitute a nuisance? (Assignments of Error C, D, H and I).
- 7. Where Appellants' arguments to support a claim of nuisance *per se* allege violation of the Shoreline Management Act, but they did not independently seek relief pursuant to the statute, is it proper to award attorneys' fees to Respondents under RCW 90.58.230? (Assignments of Error D, J, K, L and M).

- 8. Where Appellants did not seek monetary damages at trial against Respondents, Appellants' action for injunctive relief was prosecuted under RCW Chapter 7.48 (nuisance), and Appellants were not permitted as a matter of law to seek injunctive relief under RCW 90.58.230, is it proper to award attorneys' fees to Respondents under RCW 90.58.230? (Assignments of Error D, J, K, L and M).
- 9. If RCW 90.58.230 (which is not a prevailing party statute) applies, did the Trial Court abuse its discretion awarding Respondents their attorney fees and costs under that law? (Assignments of Error D, J, K, L and M).
- 10. Is it proper to award attorneys' fees to Respondents pursuant to RCW 90.58.230, for costs incurred in responding to a citation issued by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife that is unrelated to Appellants' nuisance claims in the case at bar? (Assignments of Error D, K, L and M).
- 11. Where Respondents (a) submitted generalized billing statements to support their motion for attorneys fees and (b) such statements do not reference work done in response to alleged claims brought pursuant to the Shoreline Management Act and/or RCW 90.58.230, is it proper to award attorneys' fees? (Assignments of Error D, J, K, L and M).

12. Is the amount of attorney fees and costs awarded excessive under the facts and circumstances? (Assignments of Error D, K, L and M).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Les and Betty Krueger and Hal and Melanie Moore bought waterfront homes in a quiet waterfront residential neighborhood along Hood Canal's south shore so that they might enjoy a peaceful life in one of the most beautiful, and serene places in the country. RP 8:18-19; 10:1-5 (Krueger); 89; 91:19-20; 92:1 (Moore). The Krueger home was purchased in 1965; the Moore home in 1986. RP 8:18-19; 91:19-20. The Kruegers live in their home year round. RP 13:15-16. The Moores use their home seasonally. RP 92. The neighborhood is "high end" residential. RP 16:2; 40:3-6. Unfortunately, peaceful use and enjoyment of their property has been significantly disrupted by Respondent Steven Love's operation (d/b/a "Steve's Outboard Service") ("SOS") of his commercial boat engine repair business across the street from the Moores' home. When it became apparent that Love would not close or move the business, the Moores and Kruegers decided to file a law suit in 2006 pursuant to Washington's nuisance statute, RCW Chapter 7.48. CP 120-128², seeking an injunction on various grounds including that Love's commercial

¹ References in the text to "RP" mean "Verbatim Report of Proceedings"

² References in the text to "CP" mean "Clerk's Papers."

operation lacks required permits. Damage claims were abandoned at trial.

RP 68 (Krueger); RP 106:6-7; 106:6-24 (Moore).

A. Commencement of the Business.

Steve's Outboard Service is operated on Love's residential property in out-buildings. RP 14:16-18. Love's business is located across the street from the home of Hal and Melanie Moore and two doors down from the home of Les and Betty Krueger. CP 108, Ex.14³; RP 12:7-17. Love's business shares a boundary with the Krueger's property occupied by their caretaker. Ex.14. Love purchased his property from the Kruegers in 1986. RP 14:12-17; RP 308:2, 9. Love started SOS in 1990 as a part time operation, working on the side from his full time employment at Sande Boat Works. RP 14; 307:16-18; 356:11-24. Love switched to full-time operation of Steve's Outboard Service in 1994. CP 357:1-3; 8-10.

B. Expansion of Business and Failure to Obtain Required Permits or Approvals.

Love's business is within 200 feet of the shoreline of Hood Canal. See Ex.2 (shoreline permit application) and Ex.8. In 1994, as part of his expansion to full time, Love sought shoreline permits to build a 30-foot by 45-foot metal building repair shop at his home "to provide for boat motor repair shop." Exs.1-2, CP 357. Love's application for a Shoreline

³ References in the text to "Ex" mean "Trial Exhibits." Plaintiffs trial exhibits (1-27) were transmitted to this Court by letter dated March 29, 2011. The Superior Court Clerk did not assign separate Clerk's Papers designations for the exhibits.

Substantial Development Permit ("SSDP") and a Shoreline Conditional Use Permit ("CUP") stated that the proposal was "to enlarge existing business due to safety and need for more space." **Ex.1.** Love knew he needed a shoreline CUP to operate a commercial business. **RP 361:15-23**.

Love withdrew his shoreline permit application after the Kruegers and Moores objected that the expansion of his engine repair business would be incompatible with the residential character of the neighborhood. Ex.3; RP 362; 377; 378:1-2. No shoreline permit or other permits have ever been obtained to conduct the Love business. RP 390; 84:7-13, 17-22. The business has enlarged over the years. RP 15:1-11. It is "bigger than it started out." RP 105:13. Impacts associated with the business have "gotten worse" over time. RP 26; 44:18-25; 79:4-15.

Despite withdrawing his shoreline application in 1994, in 1995 Love constructed a new two story garage in the approximate location of an old open-sided carport ("the Blue Building")⁴ and then installed another 8' x 15' building described as "storage shed / pumphouse" with a proposed "storage shed use." RP 338; 339:20-23; 340:1; Exs.5, 6; RP 396:14-23. Love uses both buildings to run SOS. Exs.5, 6; RP 97. These buildings were not there when the property was purchased in 1986. RP 24:11-13.

⁴ The building permit application was to "replace" an existing carport next to the Love home. **Ex.5**. There was no mention of a business use.

The operations are a "commercial business." **TR 43:1-24.** SOS "looks like a commercial business." **RP 97:15; 77:10-18.** It is a commercial use in a high end residential area. **RP 16:2; 40:3-6.** Love also uses the property adjoining his residence to work on boats. **RP 44:4-17; RP 83-84.** Customer boats are kept about a week on the property, with 3-4 on average on the premises. **RP 343:20-25; 344:1-6.** There are hundreds of customers per year.

The operations mostly occur Monday through Friday. **RP 48:5-9**, **13-14**. Love conceded that he still works five days a week starting around 10:00 to 10:30 a.m. and ending by 5:00 p.m. generally, although he still works longer hours in the summer months and sometimes on Saturdays. **RP 309:18-20**, **22**. He alleged that the number of jobs has started to decline the last several years. **RP 311:16-21**. Even so, for the years between 2004 and 2009, the number of jobs ranged between 127 to 199 per year. *See* Memorandum Decision, pp.7-8, **CP 115-16**.

C. <u>Impact of the Business</u>.

The repair, maintenance and/or testing of outboard marine engines and boats activities typically occur within ten feet of Highway 106 in an area that is not enclosed by walls or a permanent roof and sometimes on the road right-of-way. *See* Ex.15. Love leaves the workshop door open when he is working on boats. RP 98:1-7. Love's counsel inquired using

the words "when does the noise and chaos begin?" RP 311:22-25. SOS's operations produce a significant level of noise and engine exhaust⁵ and odor. RP 15:12-25; 16:5-10; 24:14-24. The engine motors are "revved up" and a tractor that is used to move customer boats onto the Love property is noisy. RP 16:5-10; 81:12-25. In the warmer months when the Kruegers and Moores would like to enjoy the outdoors, they often must avoid using their decks and yards because the noise and smell from Love's engine repairs is so offensive. RP 16-17; 67:13-24; 90:6 (Krueger); RP 90:6. The sound is a "different kind" than road traffic. RP 17:7-14. The obnoxious activity occurs on a regular basis and is common when Love is working on boats. RP 25:1-25; 93; 95:20.

The Kruegers and Moores have to shut doors to be able to talk or use a phone due to the noise. RP 95:1-17; 96:20-25; 97:1-13. The Moores, who live the closest, can see plumes and smell fumes from the commercial operation. RP 96:1-5, 18-19. The smoke is "billowing up." RP 94. The Moores can smell exhaust. RP 117:24-25; 118:1. The noise is bad enough that the Moores cannot watch television or have normal conversations when the engines are being revved up. RP 104. The exhaust and noise are "continuous" each day during the work week. RP 119:8-12. The Kruegers' and Moores' quiet use and enjoyment is

⁵ Exhibit 20(3) is a picture of the exhaust fumes. See also RP 18. The Kruegers' caretaker who lives uphill of Love complains of fumes. RP 24:14-24.

materially affected. RP 46:1-11; RP 49-50; 93; 96:1-5, 10-19.

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