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

“It would seem that, in the use of the words ‘material’ and ‘substantial’, Judge Bridges was endeavoring to reach the point we feel we must here discuss. Respondents have argued that the humming sound penetrating to their property was a physical invasion, and perhaps, in a sense it was. In the same sense, if the average householder in any urban community stands on his lawn and speaks to his child, calls his dog, or addresses a friend passing on the sidewalk, the sound of his voice will also invade his neighbors’ property. But if these things be done in an ordinary and reasonable way, who will contend that they are actionable? So that all commercial and industrial businesses. Certain sounds of the activity conducted will penetrate adjoining property. It now seems to us that as to such sounds, before they can be held to be actionable, it must appear that they are material and substantial, and also unreasonable, and that redress may not be had for every slight discomfort or inconvenience.”

Brady v. City of Tacoma, 145 Wash. 351, 359, 360, 259 P. 1089 (1927) (citing and quoting Bartel v. Ridgefield Lumber Co., 131 Wash. 183, 229 P. 306, 37 A.L.R. 683, where the operation of a sawmill did unreasonably interfere).

An example of facts that clearly constitute nuisance is Tinsley v. Monson & Sons Cattle Co., 2 Wn. App. 675, 472 P.2d 546 (1970). There, a neighbor operated a high density cattle feed-lot operation, one of the 9

pens was only 40' from the plaintiffs' home, and manure was allowed to remain and putrify in the pens, with noxious odors, flies and resulting nausea.

Mere violation of permit requirements cannot be the proximate cause of injuries; there yet must be something that injures the plaintiff. Tiegs v. Watts, 135 Wn.2d 1, 15, 954 P.2d 877 (1998). Even a violation of a statute cannot constitute nuisance unless there is persuasive proof that the plaintiffs suffered interference with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, based on an objective standard. Motor Car Dealers Assoc. of Seattle v. Fred S. Haines Co., 128 Wash. 267, 273-74, 222 P. 611 (1924) (Car dealer open on Sunday in violation of statute not a nuisance per se, because not acts that constitute a nuisance at all times and conditions).

Appellants cite Brusland v. Oak Theater, Inc., 42 Wn.2d 346, 349, 254 P.2d 1035 (1953), for the holding that “the question of liability does not depend upon how respondents themselves were affected, but upon how ordinary persons occupying the home or premises of respondents would have been affected by the acts of appellants.” This is clearly an objective standard; in the case at bar, the trial court was not persuaded that ordinary persons would have been affected or that the Appellants suffered any more injury than did their neighbors Mr. David, Mr. Jacob, and Mr. Gordon.

In conclusion, the Appellants did not persuade the trial court that they suffered any particular injury from Steve Love's one man boat motor repair and maintenance operation. They did not prove nuisance under any theory. SOS is simply not comparable to a cement plant, a cattle feed lot, or the other things found to be nuisances by the case law. There are no cases cited or found where nuisance was found on facts similar to the case at bar.

C. Request for Attorney's Fees in the Trial Court

Appellants claim that they did not present their case as a suit for damages under the Shorelines Management Act, and that both Mrs. Krueger and Mrs. Moore testified that they were not seeking damages. But, if that is relevant, it is not plain from their pleadings, evidence, or arguments; and is in fact contradicted by them.

The Complaint, at page 6, lines 19 and on, (CP 2), clearly sets forth a cause of action for a violation of the Shorelines Management Act, and is titled, "Third Cause of Action – Violation of Shoreline Management Act." The Appellants even included a request for recovery of costs and attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 90.58.230 of the SMA, at page 9 of their Complaint for Damages and Injunctive Relief. (CP 2). At no time did the Plaintiffs move to dismiss that claim.

Plaintiffs' written Closing Argument in the trial court, at page 2, lines 10-15, states as follows:

Because Love's commercial business lacks required permits it is a nuisance *per se*. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief requiring Love's commercial business immediately cease. While the plaintiffs are not necessarily seeking damages, damages are allowed both under the nuisance statute and state "Shoreline Management Act" and should be considered by the court.

It is difficult to characterize this as anything but a request for damages under both nuisance and Shorelines Management Act claims. The Plaintiffs' Closing Argument extensively argued and briefed both causes of action, combining them in some areas. The final sentence at page 19, lines 11-14 requests damages, as follows: "Plaintiffs also seek damages for the significant loss and enjoyment of their properties from 2004 to the present." Appellants cannot have it both ways. They cannot request damages should they prevail in both causes of action, but limit their exposure to the Respondents' attorneys' fees should Respondents prevail. Appellants' argument that they abandoned the Shorelines Management Act claim prior to trial is not supportable, and it is abundantly clear from their own pleadings that they would have requested all available relief under the Shorelines Management Act if they had prevailed.

D. Request for Attorney's Fees in the Court of Appeals

In their Answer to the Plaintiffs' Complaint, (CP 12), the Respondents requested "an award of Defendants' costs and attorney fees necessary in defending this action pursuant to RCW 90.58.230." (CP 12, pg. 2, lines 21-22).

RCW 90.58.230 provides as follows, emphasis added to the relevant portion:

Any person subject to the regulatory program of this chapter who violates any provision of this chapter or permit issued pursuant thereto shall be liable for all damage to public or private property arising from such violation, including the cost of restoring the affected area to its condition prior to violation. The attorney general or local government attorney shall bring suit for damages under this section on behalf of the state or local governments. Private persons shall have the right to bring suit for damages under this section on their own behalf and on the behalf of all persons similarly situated. If liability has been established for the cost of restoring an area affected by a violation the court shall make provision to assure that restoration will be accomplished within a reasonable time at the expense of the violator. ***In addition to such relief, including money damages, the court in its discretion may award attorney's fees and costs of the suit to the prevailing party.***

Attorney's fees may be awarded under RCW 90.58.230 to a prevailing defendant. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 823, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Respondents are requesting attorney's fees on appeal as well. Attorney's fees on appeal are discretionary with the appellate court, which has inherent jurisdiction to award attorney's fees on appeal if a statute

allows attorney's fees at trial. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy, at 825, (attorney's fees awarded to defendants in trial court and on appeal in Shorelines Management Act case).

E. Argument for Attorney's Fees in the Trial Court and at the Court of Appeals

An award of attorney's fees is reviewed for abuse of discretion. In order to reverse an attorney's fee award, an appellate court must find that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. That is, the trial court must have exercised its discretion on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Chuon Van Pham v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538, 151 P.3d 976 (2007).

Appellants argue that the trial court was required to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law for the award of attorney's fees, or remand is automatic. But, the Appellants overstate the authority for this claim and waived it by failing to raise it in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a); Unifund CRR Partners v. Sunde, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, WL2811335 (Div. II, 2011) (attorney's fee award upheld despite lack of findings and conclusions).

The comments to RAP 2.5 indicate that the purpose of the rule is to avoid the time and expense of unnecessary appeals and to give the trial court the opportunity to correct errors by requiring the parties to either

point them out or waive them. Comment 2 states that the rule is “nearly universal”; none of the few exceptions to the rule apply in this case.

Failure to make findings will not be considered in the appellate court in the absence of a request for it in the trial court. Dyer v. Dyer, 65 Wash. 535, 538, 118 P. 634 (1911); Ach v. Carter, 21 Wash. 140, 142, 57 P. 344 (1899). The general rule is that a party must bring an alleged error to the attention of the trial court at a time that will afford the trial court an opportunity to correct it. In re Welfare of Young, 24 Wn. App. 392, 397, 600 P.2d 1312 (1979); State v. I.K.C., 160 Wn. App. 660, 664, 248 P.3d 145 (2011); State v. Wicke, 91 Wn.2d 638, 642-43, 591 P.2d 452 (1979) (under most circumstances, we are simply unwilling to go to trial before a trier of fact acceptable to him, speculate on the outcome, and upon receiving an adverse result, claim error for the first time on appeal); Sun Life Assur. Co. of Canada v. Cushman, 22 Wn.2d 930, 944, 158 P.2d 101 (1958) (not sufficient to simply call alleged error to trial court’s attention; counsel must demand affirmative relief).

In re Dependency of O.J. involved termination of parental rights. The trial court neglected to appoint a guardian ad litem despite a statute’s requirement that it either do so or state good cause for not appointing a guardian ad litem. The trial court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law did not address the issue or state good cause for not appointing a guardian

ad litem. “Had May drawn the court’s attention to its failure to make a finding of good cause not to appoint a guardian ad litem and the court still failed to act or relied for its finding on something other than good cause, there might well be reversible error. ***But a party may not be delinquent in raising such an issue and expect to obtain relief.***” 88 Wn. App. 690, 696, 947 P.2d 252 (1997) (emphasis added); State v. Roggenkamp, 115 Wn. App. 927, 949, 64 P.3d 92 (2003) (failure to raise issue in trial court of trial court’s failure to produce findings of fact precludes review).

The Appellants raised no objection in the trial court to the lack of findings and conclusions; indeed they did not even appear when the judgment was entered. (CP 130).

Inadequate findings may be supplemented by the entire record, including the trial court’s oral decision. State v. M.A., 106 Wn. App. 493, 511-512, 23 P.3d 508 (2001). But, the Appellants have not designated the transcript of the judge’s oral decision as part of the record for review. An appellate court need not consider alleged error when the need for additional record is obvious, but has not been provided. The appellate court has the discretion to either decline to consider the claimed error, or to direct that the record be supplemented. State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464-65, 979 P.2d 850 (1999); In re Marriage of Ochsner, 47 Wn. App.

520, 528, 736 P.2d 292 (1987); Heilman v. Wentworth, 18 Wn. App. 751, 753-54, 571 P.2d 963 (1977); RAP 9.10.

Appellants next argue that Defendants cannot recover attorneys' fees because Defendants' attorney charged a flat fee. There is no authority cited for that proposition, and it would seem to be contrary to public policy if there was. Indeed, case law shows that even public interest and pro-bono attorneys can recover attorney's fees. 25 Washington Practice s. 14:20; Frank Colucio Constr. Co., Inc. v. King County, 136 Wn. App. 751, 780, 150 P.3d 1147 (2007); Blair v. Washington State Univ., 108 Wn.2d 558, 570-72, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987) (trial court may award fees even where attorney proceeded pro bono or voluntarily without a fee agreement); Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 896-98, 104 S.Ct. 1541, 79 L.Ed.2d 891 (1984) (trial court may allow upward adjustment of attorneys fees).

In Blum v. Stenson, the United States Supreme Court held that an award of attorneys' fees was appropriate where the prevailing party was represented by a public interest law firm, The Legal Aid Society of New York, a private nonprofit law office dedicated to the representation of persons who cannot afford a lawyer. The proper standard for computing those fees was the prevailing market rate on an hourly basis for each lawyer's skill and experience. The Court did not uphold the lower court's

upward adjustment of 50%, but stated that an upward adjustment would be proper in some cases. 465 U.S. 886.

When reviewing an award of attorney's fees, the first inquiry is whether the prevailing party was entitled to attorney's fees, and second, was the award reasonable. The first inquiry is de novo; the second is abuse of discretion. A trial judge has broad discretion in determining the reasonableness of an attorney's fee award, and, in order to reverse that award the appellant must show that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. Unifund CCR Partners v. Sunde, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___ (2011) (holding that the record on review was sufficient to uphold the attorney's fee award despite the lack of findings of fact and conclusions of law from the trial court on that issue, in a case that had been pending since 2006).

Here, the Loves prevailed. They could not afford to continue on at an hourly rate; they were fortunate to locate a single attorney willing to take the case for a flat, capped fee. (CP 107). They had valid defenses, but would be left with no remedy if they could not afford an attorney. Public policy supports adequate awards where litigants would not otherwise be able to afford the costs of litigation. Louisiana-Pacific Corp. v. Asarco, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 587, 602-603, 934 P.2d 685 (1997), citing

Blair v. Washington State University, 108 Wn.2d 558; accord, Martinez v. City of Tacoma, 81 Wn. App. 228, 914 P.2d 86 (1996).

The record on review does not contain formal findings of fact and conclusions of law on the attorney's fee award. It does contain the motions for attorney's fees and accompanying declarations that were considered by the trial court. The Appellants did not object to a lack of findings and conclusions; they did not designate the trial judge's oral ruling for the record on review; RAP 9.10, and they waited until appeal to raise this issue. This case has been pending since 2006. The Court of Appeals should find that the record is sufficient to review the fee award and uphold it under a manifest abuse of discretion standard.

Where attorney's fees for successful and unsuccessful claims are inseparable, the trial court may award the prevailing party all its fees. Blair v. Washington State University, 108 Wn.2d at 572; Bloor v. Fritz, 143 Wn. App. 718, 747, 180 P.3d 805 (2008) (trial court properly refused to segregate fees from claims where it felt it would be virtually impossible to do so).

Here, the defendants have had to defend against a many years' effort by the Appellants to put him out of business for motives of their own. The Appellants put forth a nuisance claim, a Shorelines Management Act claim, and a hybrid claim of nuisance *per se* by way of

violation of the Shorelines Management Act. It is impossible to segregate out the time involved in defending these highly interrelated claims. They all depend on the same set of facts and over-lapping theories of liability.

The Plaintiffs' objections to the request for attorneys' fees on the basis that there are no hourly billings from Mr. Finlay are not well taken. There would also be no hourly billings from a pro bono representation. The Appellants cite to Washington State Democratic Party v. Reed, 343 F.3d 1198 (9th Cir. 2003) without a pinpoint cite, for the proposition that "block billing practices are usually insufficient to show a right to attorney's fees." (Opening Brief of Appellants, pg. 48). But, that case has not a single mention of attorney's fees or billing practices and Appellants' reliance on it is inexplicable. Nor do Appellants explain or analyze this issue.

Appellants also argue that the trial court erred by including amounts spent responding to a citation from the Department of Fish and Wildlife for a dock extension. (Opening Brief of Appellants, pg. 48). But, as argued to the trial court, (CP 107-108), it was impossible to segregate that time out of the total time spent; that matter was instigated by Appellants Moore and Krueger, through counsel, and they repeatedly attempted to bring it into the trial in this case. (RP 45, 101-103); (Ex. 21) (admitted over defense objection). This Court should decline to consider

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